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Lead Plaintiffs, Goldstrand Investments Inc., Richard Krebsbach, Howard Katz, Daniel M. 

Sweet, and Robert Lowinger (“Lead Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all other similarly 

situated persons and entities, allege the following based upon information and belief, except as to 

those allegations concerning Lead Plaintiffs and Lead Plaintiffs’ own acts.  Lead Plaintiffs’ 

information and belief is based upon, among other things, counsels’ investigation which included 

review and analysis of (a) regulatory filings made by ADT Inc. (“ADT” or the “Company”) with the 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (b) public reports and news articles; (c) filings 

in ADT Holdings, Inc. v. Harris, No. 2017-0328-JTL (Del. Ch. Ct.); (d) research reports by securities 

and financial analysts; (e) press releases, transcripts of earnings calls, and other public statements 

issued by and disseminated by the Company; and (f) other publicly available material and data.  

Lead Plaintiffs believe that further substantial additional evidentiary support will exist for the 

allegations contained herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

I. NATURE AND SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

1. The claims asserted herein are solely strict liability claims for violation of Sections 

11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) relating to ADT’s January 

19, 2018 initial public offering (the “IPO”) of 105,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $14 

per share.  This securities class action is brought on behalf of the Class, as defined below, and relates 

to ADT’s common stock issued in connection with the IPO, as detailed herein.  

2. Despite being one of the oldest home security companies in the United States and the 

self-described “market leader” in professionally-monitored home security systems, the reality was 

that ADT’s traditional, core business had plagued it as public company from 2012 to 2016,  before 

Apollo Global Management, LLC (“Apollo Global”) took the Company private in 2016. 

3. More recently, although ADT had succeeded in capturing 30% of the professionally-

monitored home security market, technology companies like Amazon, Google, Apple, and Ring.com 
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(“Ring”) have been entering the home security marketplace with their own “Do-It-Yourself” 

(“DIY”) home security products that pose an imminent and significant threat to ADT’s business. 

4. Unlike ADT’s professionally-monitored systems that were costly and time consuming 

to install and monitor, these DIY products provided the market with a low-cost, easy to install 

security alternative.  Recognizing the competitive risk these devices presented, ADT embarked on an 

effort to enter into this newly emerging space in a meaningful way.   

5. To do so, ADT engaged a strategic partner – Zonoff, Inc. (“Zonoff”) – a leader in the 

software development and intuitive home automation solutions, to jointly develop and market 

enhanced security monitoring products and services that would compete in the DIY space and also 

support ADT’s professional monitoring services in a more cost efficient manner for ADT, e.g., lower 

equipment and installation costs. 

6. After nearly two-and-a-half years and a substantial $36 million investment in the 

development of the software platform (the “Z1 Platform”), Zonoff could no longer fund its 

operations and the project came to an abrupt halt.  Ring, which was eager to compete in the 

professional monitoring space, swooped in and acquired the Zonoff development team and the Z1 

Platform that Zonoff had been creating with and for ADT – a move which positioned Ring to quickly 

release a low-cost DIY professionally-monitored security system and dominate the market.   

7. As a result, ADT sued Zonoff’s former CEO and Ring, alleging that they “stole” the 

Z1 Platform and infringed upon ADT’s intellectual property rights.  As ADT stated in its court 

filings, Ring was “using the stolen Z1 Platform to release a product that competes directly with 

ADT” in the professionally-monitored security markets.  Moreover, Ring was “currently soliciting 

ADT’s customers by marketing its alarm product as a replacement for ADT’s Pulse system” and 

Ring’s “market share grab [was] not speculative” but was causing ADT irreparable injury.  ADT 

fought bitterly through trial to obtain, among other things, the return of the Z1 Platform and 
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compensatory damages; and, in November 2017, ADT successfully obtained a preliminary 

injunction preventing Ring from selling its products during the upcoming holiday season.   

8. In December 2017, ADT and Ring reached an undisclosed settlement, in which ADT 

forfeited its rights to the Z1 Platform.  In such a way, ADT lost its ability to get a foothold in the 

professionally-monitored DIY market and gave Ring unfettered ability to sell its lower-cost, easy to 

install system in direct competition against ADT’s offerings. 

9. Against this backdrop, Apollo Global sought to take ADT public again.  In 

conjunction with the IPO, Defendants (as defined below) issued a Registration Statement (defined 

below), which failed to disclose any of these material facts to investors.  The Registration Statement, 

instead, contained numerous material misstatements and omitted numerous material facts.  In 

particular, it failed to disclose ADT’s litigation with Ring or that Ring, armed with a system that 

would cause irreparable injury to and grab market share from ADT, was a significant competitor .   

10. Moreover, the Registration Statement failed to disclose that ADT’s traditional 

competitors were being displaced by DIY offerings from technology companies like Google Nest, 

Amazon, and Apple – a fact to which Defendant Timothy J. Whall (“Whall”) would admit less than 

two months later during ADT’s fourth quarter earnings conference call.  Put simply, the Registration 

Statement failed to disclose the true competitive threat ADT was facing, and the significant risks 

posed to the Company’s operations.   

11. Through the misleading Registration Statement, the Company effectuated the IPO on 

January 19, 2018.  As investors became aware of these issues after the IPO, the price of ADT 

common stock collapsed and, as of the commencement of this action, ADT common stock traded at 

$8.97 per share – 35.9% less than the $14 per share IPO price.  ADT’s stock price reaction reflects, 

the omitted information was material to a reasonable investor such that Defendants had a duty to 

disclose it.  
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II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ann. §26.012 and Section 

22 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77v.  The action is for monetary damages and there is no 

reasonable likelihood that recovery by the Class will be less than or equal to $25,000.  In addition, 

ADT’s principal place of business is located in the State of Florida, many of the other Defendants do 

business in Florida, and several of the Underwriter Defendants, as defined below, have offices in 

Florida. 

13. This action is not removable to federal court.  The claims alleged herein arise under 

Section 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act.  See 15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2), 77o.  Section 22 

of the Securities Act expressly states that “[e]xcept as provided in section 16(c), no case arising 

under this title and brought in any State court of competent jurisdiction shall be removed to any court 

of the United States.”  15 U.S.C. §77v.  Section 16(c) refers to “covered class actions brought in any 

State court involving a covered security, as set forth in subsection (b)”; and subsection (b) of Section 

16, in turn, includes within its scope only covered class actions “based upon the statutory or common 

law of any State or subdivision thereof.”  15 U.S.C. §77p.  This action asserts only federal law 

claims.   

14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants because they are 

either citizens of the State of Florida and/or the claims and allegations asserted herein arise from 

conduct and actions taken by the Defendants which occurred within the State of Florida, and/or 

caused injuries to persons within the state, including the operations of ADT and various meetings of 

its Board of Directors (the “Board”), such that due process of law will not be offended by this 

Court’s exercise of personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants.  See Fla. Stat. Ann. §48.193. 

15. Venue is proper pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ann. §§47.011 and/or 47.051 because  

Defendants reside and/or have places of business in Palm Beach County and/or the cause of action 
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accrued in Palm Beach County.  Specifically,  ADT (which, as discussed further below, was owned 

and controlled at the time of the IPO by funds affiliated with or managed by Apollo Global) has its 

principal place of business located within Palm Beach County, and numerous actions relating to the 

claims at issue in this case occurred in whole or in substantial part within this Court’s venue, 

including the preparation and dissemination of the materially inaccurate, misleading, and incomplete 

Registration Statement (which was prepared by the Defendants, or with their participation, 

acquiescence, encouragement, cooperation, and/or assistance). 

III. PARTIES 

A. Lead Plaintiffs 

16. Lead Plaintiff Goldstrand Investments Inc. (“Goldstrand”) purchased 500 shares of 

ADT common stock on January 19, 2018, at $14.00 per share, pursuant and/or traceable to the 

Registration Statement and was damaged thereby. 

17. Lead Plaintiff Richard Krebsbach (“Krebsbach”) purchased 900 shares of ADT 

common stock on January 22, 2018, at $11.1951 per share, pursuant and/or traceable to the 

Registration Statement and was damaged thereby. 

18. Lead Plaintiff Howard Katz (“Katz”) purchased 10,000 shares of ADT common stock 

on January 19, 2018, at $14.00 per share, pursuant and/or traceable to the IPO and was damaged 

thereby. 

19. Lead Plaintiff Daniel M. Sweet (“Sweet”) purchased 4793.29 shares of ADT common 

stock on January 19, 2018, at $14.00 per share, pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration 

Statement and was damaged thereby. 

20. Lead Plaintiff Robert Lowinger (“Lowinger”) purchased 300 shares of ADT common 

stock on January 19, 2018, at $14.00 per share, pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration 

Statement and was damaged thereby.   
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21. On July 10, 2018, this Court appointed Goldstrand, Krebsbach, Katz, Sweet, and 

Lowinger as Lead Plaintiffs in this action. 

B. Defendants 

1. Corporate Defendant 

22. Defendant ADT, together with its subsidiaries, provides residential properties and 

businesses with electronic security, fire protection, and other related professional alarm monitoring 

services, as well as selling and installing those systems.  ADT is a Delaware corporation 

headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida.  Its shares are listed and trade on the New York Stock 

Exchange (“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “ADT.” 

2. Individual and Executive Defendants 

23. Defendant Whall was, at all relevant times, including at the time of the IPO, the Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”), Principal Executive Officer, and a director of the Company.  

24. Defendant P. Gray Finney (“Finney”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time 

of the IPO, the Company’s Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, and Secretary.  

25. Defendant James D. DeVries (“DeVries”) was, at all relevant times, including at the 

time of the IPO, the Company’s President. 

26. Defendant Jeffrey Likosar (“Likosar”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time 

of the IPO, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”).  Defendant Likosar is a resident of 

Palm Beach County. 

27. Defendant Marc E. Becker (“Becker”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time 

of the IPO, a director of the Company and chairman of the Board.  Defendant Becker was appointed 

to the Board as a designee of Apollo Global and at the time of the IPO was a Senior Partner of 

Apollo Global. 
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28. Defendant Reed B. Rayman (“Rayman”) was, at all relevant times, including at the 

time of the IPO, a director of the Company.  Defendant Rayman was appointed to the Board as a 

designee of Apollo Global and at the time of the IPO was a Principal of Apollo Global. 

29. Defendant Matthew H. Nord (“Nord”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time 

of the IPO, a director of the Company.  Defendant Nord was appointed to the Board as a designee of 

Apollo Global and at the time of the IPO was a Senior Partner of Apollo Global. 

30. Defendant Andrew D. Africk (“Africk”) was, at all relevant times, including at the 

time of the IPO, a director of the Company.  Prior to 2013, Defendant Africk was a Senior Partner at 

Apollo Global and had worked at Apollo Global for 21 years. 

31. Defendant Eric L. Press (“Press”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time of 

the IPO, a director of the Company.  Defendant Press was appointed to the Board as a designee of 

Apollo Global and at the time of the IPO was a Senior Partner at Apollo Global. 

32. Defendant Lee J. Solomon (“Solomon”) was, at all relevant times, including at the 

time of the IPO, a director of the Company.  Defendant Solomon was appointed to the Board as a 

designee of Apollo Global and at the time of the IPO was a Partner at Apollo Global. 

33. Defendant Stephanie Drescher (“Drescher”) was, at all relevant times, including at the 

time of the IPO, a director of the Company.  Defendant Drescher was appointed to the Board as a 

designee of Apollo Global.  At the time of the IPO, Defendant Drescher was a Senior Partner at 

Apollo Global and a member of Apollo Global’s Management Committee. 

34. Defendant Brett Watson (“Watson”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time 

of the IPO, a director of the Company.  

35. Defendant David Ryan (“Ryan”) was, at all relevant times, including at the time of 

the IPO, a director of the Company.  
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36. Defendants Whall, Finney, Likosar, Becker, Rayman, Nord, Africk, Press, Solomon, 

Drescher, Watson, and Ryan are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”  

Defendants Whall, DeVries, and Likosar are collectively referred to herein as the “Executive 

Defendants.” 

37. Each of the Individual Defendants signed the Registration Statement for the IPO 

either personally or through an attorney-in-fact and/or caused its issuance.  In addition, each of the 

Executive Defendants, in his capacity as a senior executive of ADT, reviewed, edited, and approved 

the Registration Statement as well as the IPO’s roadshow PowerPoint presentation, talking points, 

and script.  Further, the Executive Defendants co-presented ADT’s roadshow presentation to 

potential investors and presented highly favorable but materially incorrect and/or materially 

misleading information about the Company, its business, products, plans, and financial prospects, 

and/or omitted to disclose material information required to be disclosed under the federal securities 

laws and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder. 

3. Apollo Fund Defendants  

38. Defendant Apollo Global, a Delaware limited liability company headquartered in 

New York, NY, is a private equity firm that took ADT private in a leveraged buyout in May 2016 

and then quickly took ADT public again via the IPO in January 2018.  Apollo Global was the 

sponsor of the IPO.  Before and after the IPO, Apollo Global beneficially owned 641,114,368 shares 

of ADT common stock through the following funds affiliated with or managed by Apollo Global: 

(a) Defendant Prime Security Services TopCo Parent, L.P. (“TopCo”), a 

Delaware limited partnership headquartered in Purchase, NY; 

(b) Defendant Apollo Management Holdings GP, LLC (“AMHGP”), a Delaware 

limited liability company headquartered in New York, NY; 
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(c) Defendant Apollo Management, L.P. (“AMLP”), a Delaware limited 

partnership headquartered in Purchase, NY; 

(d) Defendant Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., (“AMHLP”), a Delaware 

limited partnership headquartered in New York, NY; and 

(e) Defendant Apollo Management GP, LLC (“AMGP”), a Delaware limited 

liability company headquartered in Purchase, NY. 

39. Apollo Global, TopCo, AMHGP, AMLP, AMHLP, and AMGP are referred 

collectively herein as the “Apollo Fund Defendants.”  The Apollo Fund Defendants collectively 

owned approximately 100% of ADT’s common stock prior to the IPO and following the IPO the 

Apollo Fund Defendants continued to own approximately 85.60% of ADT’s common stock.   

40. At the time of the IPO, six of the Company’s ten directors were employees of Apollo 

and served as Apollo Global designees on the Board:  Defendants Becker, Nord, Rayman, Press, 

Solomon, and Drescher.  In addition, Defendant Africk worked for Apollo Global for 21 years 

before starting his own private investment company in 2013. 

41. The Registration Statement stated that the Apollo Fund Defendants owned all of 

ADT’s common stock prior to the IPO and that they would continue to own a majority of the voting 

power of ADT’s outstanding common stock after the IPO.  Thus, ADT was identified as a 

“controlled company.” 

42. By virtue of their stock ownership and their designation of the majority of the 

members of the Board, and as stated in the Registration Statement, the Apollo Fund Defendants 

controlled ADT at the time of the IPO. 

43. The Apollo Fund Defendants conduct business, including controlling ADT, in the 

State of Florida.   
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44. Further, as the majority shareholder, the Apollo Fund Defendants either direct or 

indirectly controlled the contents of and/or dissemination of the Registration Statement, including 

within Palm Beach County. 

4. Underwriter Defendants 

45. Defendant Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley”) was an underwriter for 

the IPO.  In the IPO, Morgan Stanley was allocated 18,375,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell 

to the investing public.  Morgan Stanley acted as a joint book-running manager of the IPO and as a 

representative of the underwriters.  Morgan Stanley conducts business in the State of Florida and 

Palm Beach County, including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the 

IPO 

46. Defendant Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC (“Goldman Sachs”) was an underwriter for the 

IPO.  In the IPO, Goldman Sachs was allocated 18,375,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to 

the investing public.  Goldman Sachs acted as a joint book-running manager in the IPO and as a 

representative of the underwriters.  Goldman Sachs conducts business in the State of Florida and 

Palm Beach County, including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the 

IPO. 

47. Defendant Barclays Capital Inc. (“Barclays”) was an underwriter for the IPO. In the 

IPO, Barclays was allocated 11,550,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing public.  

Barclays acted as a joint book-running manager in the IPO and as a representative of the 

underwriters.  Barclays conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including 

but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

48. Defendant Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (“Deutsche Bank”) was an underwriter for 

the IPO.  In the IPO, Deutsche Bank was allocated 11,550,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell 

to the investing public.  Deutsche Bank acted as a joint book-running manager in the IPO and as a 
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representative of the underwriters.  Deutsche Bank conducts business in the State of Florida and 

Palm Beach County, including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the 

IPO. 

49. Defendant RBC Capital Markets, LLC (“RBC”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  In 

the IPO, RBC was allocated 11,550,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing public.  

RBC acted as a joint book-running manager in the IPO and as a representative of the underwriters.  

RBC conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but not limited to 

the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

50. Defendant Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”) was an underwriter for the 

IPO.  In the IPO, Citigroup was allocated 9,975,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the 

investing public.  Citigroup conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, 

including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

51. Defendant Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (“Credit Suisse”) was an underwriter 

for the IPO.  In the IPO, Credit Suisse was allocated 6,037,500 shares of ADT common stock to sell 

to the investing public.  Credit Suisse conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach 

County, including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

52. Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill Lynch”) 

was an underwriter for the IPO.  In the IPO, Merrill Lynch was allocated 6,037,500 shares of ADT 

common stock to sell to the investing public.  Merrill Lynch conducts business in the State of Florida 

and Palm Beach County, including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through 

the IPO. 

53. Defendant Apollo Global Securities, LLC (“Apollo Securities”) was an underwriter 

for the IPO.  In the IPO, Apollo Securities was allocated 4,200,000 shares of ADT common stock to 

sell to the investing public.  Apollo Securities is an affiliate of Apollo Global and as a result the 
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Registration Statement disclosed a conflict of interest arising out of Apollo Securities’ underwriter 

role.  Apollo Securities conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including 

but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO.   

54. Defendant Imperial Capital, LLC (“Imperial”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  In the 

IPO, Imperial was allocated 2,100,000 shares of ADT stock to sell to the investing public.  Imperial 

conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but not limited to the 

sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

55. Defendant Citizens Capital Markets, Inc. (“Citizens”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  

In the IPO, Citizens was allocated 1,575,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing 

public.  Citizens conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but not 

limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

56. Defendant Allen & Company LLC (“Allen”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  In the 

IPO, Allen was allocated 1,050,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing public.  

Allen conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but not limited to 

the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

57. Defendant LionTree Advisors LLC (“LionTree”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  In 

the IPO, LionTree was allocated 1,050,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing 

public.  LionTree conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but 

not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

58. Defendant SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. (“SunTrust”) was an underwriter for 

the IPO.  In the IPO, SunTrust was allocated 1,050,000 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the 

investing public.  SunTrust conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, 

including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 
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59. Defendant Academy Securities, Inc. (“Academy”) was an underwriter for the IPO.  In 

the IPO, Academy was allocated 262,500 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the investing 

public.  Academy conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, including but 

not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

60. Defendant The Williams Capital Group, L.P. (“Williams”) was an underwriter for the 

IPO.  In the IPO, Williams was allocated 262,500 shares of ADT common stock to sell to the 

investing public.  Williams conducts business in the State of Florida and Palm Beach County, 

including but not limited to the sale or solicitation of ADT stock through the IPO. 

61. Defendants Morgan Stanley, Goldman Sachs, Barclays, Deutsche Bank, RBC, 

Citigroup, Credit Suisse, Merrill Lynch, Apollo Securities, Imperial, Citizens, Allen, LionTree, 

SunTrust, Academy, and Williams are referred to collectively as the “Underwriter Defendants.” The 

Underwriter Defendants each served as a financial advisor for and assisted in the preparation and 

dissemination of the Company’s materially untrue and misleading Registration Statement including 

in Florida and Palm Beach County. 

62. The Underwriter Defendants are primarily investment banking houses which 

specialize, inter alia, in underwriting public offerings of securities.  They served as underwriters of 

the IPO and shared more than $55 million in fees collectively. 

63. The Underwriter Defendants determined that in return for their share of the IPO 

proceeds, they were willing to merchandise ADT stock in the IPO.  The Underwriter Defendants 

arranged a roadshow prior to the IPO during which they, and ADT’s top executives (including the 

Executive Defendants), met with potential investors and presented highly favorable but materially 

incorrect and/or materially misleading information about the Company, its business, products, plans, 

and financial prospects, and/or omitted to disclose material information required to be disclosed 

under the federal securities laws and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder. 
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64. The Underwriter Defendants also demanded and obtained an agreement from ADT 

that ADT would indemnify and hold the Underwriter Defendants harmless from any liability under 

the federal securities laws.  They also made certain that ADT had purchased millions of dollars in 

directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. 

65. Representatives of the Underwriter Defendants assisted ADT, the Individual 

Defendants, Defendant DeVries, and the Apollo Fund Defendants in planning the IPO, and 

purportedly conducted an adequate and reasonable investigation into the business and operations of 

ADT, an undertaking known as a “due diligence” investigation.  The due diligence investigation was 

required of the Underwriter Defendants in order to engage in the IPO.  During the course of their 

“due diligence,” the Underwriter Defendants had continual access to confidential corporate 

information concerning ADT’s business, products, plans, and financial prospects. 

66. In addition to availing themselves of virtually unbridled access to internal corporate 

documents, agents of the Underwriter Defendants met with ADT’s and the Apollo Fund Defendants’ 

management, top executives (including the Executive Defendants), and outside counsel, and engaged 

in “drafting sessions” between at least September 2017 and January 2018.  During these sessions, 

understandings were reached as to:  (i) the strategy to best accomplish the IPO; (ii) the terms of the 

IPO, including the price at which ADT common stock would be sold; (iii) the language to be used in 

the Registration Statement; (iv) what disclosures about ADT would be made in the Registration 

Statement; and (v) what responses would be made to the SEC in connection with its review of the 

Registration Statement.  As a result of those constant contacts and communications between the 

Underwriter Defendants’ representatives and the Company’s and Apollo Fund Defendants’ 

management and top executives (including the Executive Defendants), the Underwriter Defendants 

are responsible for and participated in the preparation and dissemination of the false Registration 
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Statement and, at a minimum, are strictly liable for the materially untrue statements and omissions 

contained in the Registration Statement as detailed herein. 

IV. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

A. Background of the Company 

67. Founded in 1874, ADT is one of the oldest home security brands in the United States.  

It is the leading provider of professionally-monitored security, interactive home and business 

automation, and related monitoring services, such as burglary, video, access control, fire and smoke 

alarm, and medical alert solutions, in the United States and Canada. 

68. ADT delivers a 24/7 professional monitoring network and  maintains the industry’s 

largest sales, installation, and service field force, employing approximately 18,000 people in over 

200 sales and service locations and 12 monitoring centers.  As of September 30, 2017, ADT served 

approximately 7.2 million customers and, at the time of the IPO, ADT boasted a 30% market share – 

five times larger than its closest competitor’s market share. 

69. Though the Company reports its financial and operating information in only one 

segment, ADT operates in three markets:  Residential, Commercial, and Growth Markets.  ADT’s 

residential customers are typically owners of single-family homes, while ADT’s commercial market 

serves a variety of large and small businesses, including multi-site customers with locations around 

the country.  Through its growth market the Company endeavors to access a new clientele in need of 

a product or service to complement smart home technologies, network and cyber security, and 

mobile security.  

70. Over the years, in order to meet changing customer needs and make use of newly 

emerging technologies, ADT has launched a number of new products and services in the 

marketplace.  In 2010, for example, the Company launched ADT Pulse, through which ADT 

customers can use their smart phones, tablets, and laptops to, among other things, arm and disarm 
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their security systems, adjust lighting or thermostat levels, view real-time video of their premises, 

and program customizable schedules for the management of a range of smart home products. 

71. ADT generates more than 90% of its revenue from the recurring contractually-

committed monthly payments it receives for monitoring the security systems its sells and installs at a 

loss.  ADT typically charges customers between approximately $30 and $60 a month for this service 

depending on the type of system installed and its features. 

72. While ADT hypes this as an “extremely attractive business model” characterized by 

“significant and stable cash flow” and “attractive returns on new customer acquisition expenditures,” 

it is a very costly business model since ADT sells and installs its security systems at a loss and must 

continuously maintain the systems it monitors.  In fact, an average install for ADT takes about six 

hours and requires the installation of 15 to 30 devices.  As for maintenance, ADT is required to 

provide scheduled maintenance services, preventative maintenance services, and services on 

demand. 

73. Indeed, ADT’s costly business model plagued its earlier existence as a public 

company from 2012 to 2016.  Prior to the 2016 acquisition by Apollo Global, which took the 

Company private, Defendants investors mainly saw ADT as an underutilized asset that was 

negatively impacted by high customer attrition driven by poor customer selection and customer 

service.  In particular, during its first iteration as a public company, the Company’s performance was 

underwhelming as poor execution drove consistent earnings misses, poor revenue trends, high 

customer attrition, and anemic cash flow. 

B. ADT’s Competitive Landscape Faced Disruption 

74. Although ADT generates more than 90% of its revenue from the traditional, 

recurring, contractually-committed monthly payments it receives for monitoring the security systems 
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its sells and installs, ADT’s traditional, professionally-monitored home security offerings are being 

displaced by mobile and cyber security offerings.   

75. In today’s world, hand-held devices, such as smart phones and tablets, offer 

consumers immediate access to information, services, and products at the tap of a finger.  With the 

advent of the so-called “Internet-of-Things” (“IoT”) products, consumers can stay connected to 

virtually anything in their lives via the Internet through computing devices embedded in everyday 

objects capable of sending and receiving data.  That includes monitoring and interactive control of 

home security systems and other household devices (e.g., lighting, heating, and cooling, etc.). 

76. In particular, Bot Home Automation, Inc., doing business as Ring, took the 

marketplace by storm in 2013 by disrupting the stale and stagnant home security market with a video 

doorbell product that allowed users to monitor the security of their own home from the convenience 

of a cell phone.  A built-in motion detector alerted users when a visitor arrived at their door and gave 

them the option to see, hear, and speak to persons at the door before they let them in. 

77. Since that time, Ring continued to successfully introduce self-monitored home 

security products into the market, such as security cameras, home alarms, and WiFi-enabled smoke 

detectors and floor sensors.  These products, unlike ADT’s core technology, are easily installed, far 

less costly, and can be easily transferred to a new residence.  By 2017, Ring had over one million 

users. 

78. Ring, valued at about $760 million, had raised $209 million in funding at the time of 

ADT’s IPO, according to Pitchbook, a software as a service (“SaaS”) company that delivers data, 

research and technology covering the private capital markets, including venture capital, private 

equity and M&A transactions.  Ring was publicly rumored to be considering its own IPO at the end 

of 2018.  Unbeknownst to the market, however, Ring was engaged in private discussions to be 

acquired by Amazon. 
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C. ADT Attempts to Get a Foothold in the DIY Industry 

79. Understanding the significant competitive threat that emerging technologies, such as 

DIY products, presented in the home security industry, ADT sought to gain a foothold through new 

products and software platforms.   

80. In 2016, ADT introduced ADT Canopy, a contract-free, month-to-month subscription 

to a professional monitoring service that was designed to integrate ADT’s security into some of the 

most popular third-party smart home products on the market. 

81. In October 2017, ADT partnered with Samsung and together they introduced the 

Samsung SmartThings ADT home security system.  SmartThings was designed as an easy, flexible 

DIY security and smart home solution that allows consumers to choose from a variety of home 

security products that did not need professional installation, but that could be professionally 

monitored by ADT’s professional monitoring service.  

82. ADT Canopy had been created to support products like the August Doorbell Cam, 

Honeywell Lyric products, Kidde smoke detectors, LG Smart Security hubs, the Ring Video 

Doorbell, the Roost Smart Battery, the Samsung Gear S2 Watch, SmartThings, and Wink.  At the 

time of the IPO, however, the list of ADT Canopy-compatible devices and platforms had dwindled 

only to those manufactured by Samsung, Honeywell, NETGEAR, and Apple’s HomeKit. 

D. ADT Partnered with Zonoff to Develop New Home Security 

Technology Needed to Keep Pace with Competitors 

83. Although ADT was the leading provider of professional security monitoring, industry 

trends indicated a market shift away from the traditional security systems upon which ADT had built 

its legacy,  toward a more user-friendly, less expensive, “out-of-the-box” DIY security system.  To 

enter that field, however, ADT was dependent on its relationships with third parties that sold DIY 

products and their willingness to offer ADT’s platform for professional monitoring should those 

customers be interested in the upgrade.  
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84. Looking to expand its offerings in the DIY market – and create its own “out-of-the-

box” security system – ADT turned to Zonoff and its IoT software development and design prowess 

as a strategic business partner.  Zonoff was a designer of intuitive home automation solutions, 

including interactive software platforms for home automation, pursuant to which the two companies 

were to jointly develop and market enhanced security monitoring product offerings and services. 

85. In November 2014, ADT entered into a collaboration agreement with Zonoff to 

develop a new software platform specifically for ADT that would incorporate ADT’s confidential, 

proprietary information, ADT’s trade secrets – in particular proprietary know-how related to 

professional monitoring – and ADT’s specifications for the final product.  The new software 

platform, which combined both ADT’s and Zonoff’s technologies, was called the “Z1 Platform.”   

86. In particular, the Z1 Platform was to be used in two new ADT security and 

automation systems: (1) a replacement to ADT’s aging Pulse system, which ADT licensed from 

another company and which was suffering from stability and scalability issues that were negatively 

affecting ADT’s ability to add additional customers to the system; and (2) an HS&A (home security 

and alarm) DIY retail product to be professionally monitored by ADT.  In recognition of the 

importance of the ADT-Zonoff relationship and to protect its interests in the technology under 

development, ADT invested in Zonoff through a stock purchase and a secured loan.  As security for 

the substantial loan, Zonoff granted ADT a first priority lien and a security interest in all of its assets 

and intellectual property rights, including the Z1 Platform. 

87. Pursuant to the ADT-Zonoff agreement, ADT would own the Z1 Platform and Zonoff 

would retain only the rights to its own prior technology that went into developing the Z1 Platform.  

The agreement expressly prohibited Zonoff and its employees from using any of ADT’s confidential 

information to “(i) compete directly or indirectly with [ADT]; or (ii) interfere with any actual or 

proposed business of [ADT]” and obligated them not to “disclose or otherwise make available any of 
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the Confidential Information to anyone,” except those “who need to know the Confidential 

Information for the purpose of meeting [Zonoff’s] obligations under” the agreement.  In sum, ADT 

had a right to demand the “return or destruction” of the Z1 Platform. 

88. By April 2015, despite ADT’s substantial investment, Zonoff began to have difficulty 

paying certain third-party development costs, so Zonoff turned to ADT for additional financial 

assistance.  As a result, ADT agreed at that time to satisfy certain substantial outstanding third-party 

development costs for Zonoff. 

89. Nevertheless, Zonoff continued to experience additional, significant development 

delays and had difficulty meeting delivery milestones.  These delays increased the cost of the project 

and set back the expected release date for the Z1 Platform.  As a result, Zonoff requested, and ADT 

provided, additional financial support in October 2015, February 2016, July 2016, and November 

2016. 

90. The additional funds ADT agreed to provide Zonoff in November 2016 came in 

exchange for a subordinated security interest in Zonoff’s assets and Zonoff’s agreement to a 

contingency plan escrow agreement to ensure ADT’s ability to access the entirety of the Z1 Platform 

if certain trigger events, such as Zonoff ceasing operations, occurred. 

91. Furthermore, the purpose of this November 2016 financing was to help carry Zonoff 

through the closing of a potential acquisition by Honeywell that Zonoff had been negotiating. 

92. On or about December 28, 2016, in the midst of due diligence for the potential 

acquisition by Honeywell (that ultimately was never consummated), Zonoff informed ADT that it 

believed that, in the best case scenario, Zonoff only had enough cash to continue operations for 

another month – until the end of January 2017. 

93. On or about January 17, 2017, Zonoff notified ADT that it would likely run out of 

funds to pay employees, operating costs, and other financial obligations, if the potential acquisition 
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was not completed.  Zonoff’s inability to fund its operations and repay its loan obligations directly 

threatened the development of the Z1 Platform for ADT, the repayment of ADT loans to Zonoff, and 

ADT’s substantial investment in the development of the Z1 Platform.  By this point ADT had sunk 

$36 million into the collaboration agreement with Zonoff. 

E. Ring Obtains the Home Security Technology and Trade Secrets 

Developed by ADT and Zonoff 

94. Unbeknownst to ADT at the time, in late January 2017, Zonoff’s CEO, Michael 

Harris (“Harris”) began negotiating for employment of himself and 17 other Zonoff employees by a 

different company – Ring – in exchange for Zonoff’s most valuable assets:  the Z1 Platform and 

Zonoff’s development team. 

95. For his part in connection with the transfer of the Z1 Platform to Ring, Harris 

obtained a senior-level position at Ring, as President of Ring’s new “Ring Solutions” division, 

continuing his oversight of most of Zonoff’s former software developers, who were hired by Ring to 

continue development of the Z1 Platform, now for Ring’s benefit. 

96. In particular, on March 2, 2017, Zonoff terminated all of its employees.  

Contemporaneously, Ring hired most of Zonoff’s employees (including Harris), leased the Zonoff 

office space and headquarters, obtained Zonoff’s most valuable asset, the Z1 Platform, and 

subsequently continued operations under the Ring moniker. 

97. At the same time, on or about March 2, 2017, ADT obtained access credentials for the 

Z1 Platform production software environment and documentation placed in escrow, which it became 

entitled to upon the cessation of Zonoff’s business. 

98. When ADT accessed the escrow materials at that time, it learned of Harris’s deal with 

Ring and the transfer of the Z1 Platform to Ring. 

99. At that time, not only did ADT learn that Harris had absconded to Ring with the Z1 

Platform, but ADT also learned that Ring was developing a product that would use ADT’s Z1 
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Platform and directly compete with ADT in the professionally-monitored home security industry.  

Ring sensed that professionally-monitored home security technology (e.g., the technology of ADT’s 

traditional systems) was stalled by lack of innovations and, unbeknownst to ADT, began plans to 

develop a professionally-monitored alarm product in 2016.  In fact, in January 2017, Ring engaged 

Zonoff to create a platform for use in a new DIY professionally-monitored alarm that would directly 

compete with ADT.  In other words, the new Ring Product was essentially the HS&A product ADT 

had contracted with Zonoff to create and bring to market.  Yet prior to receiving the Z1 Platform, 

Ring had no experience in the highly regulated professionally monitored home security market and 

lacked the know-how to enter the market in the near future.  The Z1 Platform gave Ring the 

opportunity to jump start its entrance into the market without expending the funds, resources, and 

time to build its own product from scratch.  Indeed, Ring’s CEO would later testify that the 

competitive edge of launching its product before others was worth “a billion dollars” as it would not 

only expand the security market but take market share from current professional monitoring 

providers. 

100. Moreover, during the course of the litigation discussed below, ADT would learn that 

Ring’s product, called Ring Protect and later Ring Alarm, would be cheaper than ADT Pulse.  In 

particular, Ring’s product, which would include a base station, keyboard, contact sensors for doors 

and windows, motion detectors, and the capability to pair with Ring’s existing camera offerings, 

would only cost $199 and monthly monitoring would only cost $10 – significantly less than the $30 

to $60 per month ADT charged. 

1. ADT Sued Ring to Recover the Technology and Trade Secrets 

and Obtain a Preliminary Injunction Against Ring 

101. On or about April 28, 2017, ADT sued Harris and Ring in Delaware Chancery Court 

for, among other things, misappropriation of trade secrets, tortious interference with contractual 
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relationship, conversion and fraudulent transfer.  In the lawsuit (the “Zonoff Litigation”), ADT 

sought, among other things, compensatory damages and the return of the Z1 Platform. 

102. ADT emphasized to the court in a Verified Complaint filed May 3, 2017, that the 

trade secrets at issue were material to ADT and, in Ring’s hands, posed a significant competitive 

threat to ADT.   

103. In particular, ADT’s Verified Complaint stated that Ring wrongfully maintains 

possession of the Z1 Platform, a product designed and developed for ADT and in which ADT 

invested substantial funds, to use in competition with ADT.”  Further, “Ring’s continued possession 

and use of the Z1 Platform is causing and will continue to cause ADT irreparable injury, including, 

but not limited to, the material and substantial impairment of ADT’s rights and interests in and to the 

Z1 Platform [and] the protection of its trade secrets therein . . . .”  After discovery was completed in 

the Zonoff Litigation, Harris and Ring offered to pay ADT $12.5 million, a settlement proposal that 

ADT rejected.  The case was tried between September 18 and 21, 2017.   

104. After the trial, on October 9, 2017, ADT sought a preliminary injunction to stop Ring 

from selling products based on the Z1 Platform.  In briefing on that motion, ADT demonstrated just 

how material the theft of its technology and trade secrets by Ring was to ADT. 

105. According to ADT, “Ring is competing directly and explicitly with ADT, using the 

improperly acquired source code as the foundation of a new product.”  This product, the “Ring 

Protect,” was announced on October 2, 2017, and is “a home security system with window sensors 

and a motion detector that has the ability to be professionally monitored.”  

106. In its court filings, ADT represented: 

The allegation that this product competes with ADT is not speculative, it is expressly 

confirmed by Ring’s own marketing materials.  Ring not only compares its product 

to ADT’s Pulse offering, but specifically touts the savings customers can realize by 

using “Ring Protect” rather than Pulse. 
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107. And the comparison to ADT’s Pulse offering “is no coincidence,” according to ADT:  

“Ring’s product is using the software platform specifically developed by ADT and Zonoff for 

Pulse.”  ADT was particularly concerned given “[t]he emerging nature of the DIY home security 

market.” 

108. As “a direct result of Ring’s wrongful taking of ADT’s source code,” Ring “received 

a two-year, $50 million head start on its entry into the professionally monitored segment of the home 

security industry.”  In other words, “Ring has been able to skip over the trials and errors, the 

resources consumed, and hours devoted by companies like ADT to put out a competing 

product in a fraction of the time, using technology developed and paid for by ADT.”   

109. At oral argument on that motion, on November 2, 2017, counsel for ADT fully 

articulated the irreparable harm inflicted upon ADT as a result of the Ring/Zonoff transaction.  He 

explained: 

This is a new field, a new product category, professionally monitored DIY home 

security tied into the smart home.  Mr. Siminoff testified he believes Nest, which is 

Google, jumped into the space specifically because they heard Ring was getting into 

the space.  ADT’s getting into the space.  This is the Christmas season where people 

are going to establish market share.  He who comes out in January with market share 

is operating from the high ground and is getting brand recognition.  That means it’s 

not a one-to-one issue; it’s not if Ring gets a sale, my client lost a sale.  It’s someone 

is going to get a sale, someone is going to get elevated with brand recognition, and 

someone is going to get the market share.  And that’s very hard to claw back. That’s 

not easily compensated or even determined from compensation standpoint.  Had this 

PI hearing been in July, Ring never would have released its product.  It released it 

because it has to get on the shelves for the holidays.   

110. On November 2, 2017, the court in the Zonoff Litigation granted ADT a preliminary 

injunction prohibiting Ring from selling products based on the Z1 Platform until the adjudication 

was complete, finding it reasonably probable that Ring was improperly using the Z1 Platform. 

111. Specifically, the court stated: 

I think there is irreparable harm to ADT . . . I think it’s reasonably probable that Ring 

should not have been using the escrow materials for the purposes they were using 

them for. 
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So it’s one thing to say -- and I agree -- that ADT doesn’t have a right to avoid 

competition.  But it’s another thing when that competitor has emerged by virtue of 

the misuse of  someone else’s property, which is what there’s a reasonable 

probability of success and good reason to think happened here. 

Given that predicate, I think there is irreparable harm to ADT. 

2. ADT Agreed to a Cash Settlement Allowing Ring to Keep the 

Technology and Trade Secrets Developed by ADT and Zonoff, 

But Did Not Disclose It Prior to the IPO 

112. On December 15, 2017, while still awaiting a ruling in the Zonoff Litigation, ADT, 

Ring, and Harris advised the court that the parties had reached a settlement in principle after 

participating in a mediation held on December 7, 2017.  The letter did not disclose the terms of the 

settlement. 

113. On January 19, 2018, the very day of ADT’s IPO, the parties wrote to the court again 

stating they were still in the process of finalizing the terms of the settlement although they had made 

“significant progress” and believed they were “close” to finalizing an agreement.  Again, this letter 

did not disclose the terms of the settlement. 

114. On February 23, 2018, several weeks after ADT’s IPO, the court was informed that 

the settlement was finalized.  The stipulation filed on that day did not disclose the terms of the 

settlement but importantly the stipulation vacated the preliminary injunction against Ring that ADT 

had fought for a few months earlier. 

115. According to media sources, the settlement was for a $25 million payment to ADT.  

More importantly, under the terms of the settlement, Ring would be permitted to take its 

professionally-monitored DIY security product to market using ADT’s Z1 Platform.  This came to 

fruition in June 2018 when Ring launched its Ring Alarm – the product formerly known as Ring 

Protect that ADT previously claimed would cause the Company irreparable harm.  The Ring Alarm 

was offered at a starting price of $199 with professional monitoring for $10 a month (or $100 for 12 

months). 
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116. Thus, the following prophesy by ADT’s counsel at the preliminary injunction hearing 

came to pass: 

Ring got to that table [i.e., the DIY professionally-monitored home security 

industry,] without having to spend two years developing the software, without having 

to spend the $50 million that it, quite frankly, did not have.  And so it is out of place 

to get a competitive advantage at the right time at the right place because it stole 

[ADT’s] software.  That’s timing.  And that’s also market share. 

F. Defendants Conduct the IPO 

117. On September 28, 2017, ADT filed with the SEC its registration statement on Form 

S-1 (Registration No. 333-222233), which, following several amendments made in response to 

comments received from the SEC, was declared effective by the SEC on January 18, 2018 (the 

“Form S-1”). 

118. On January 18, 2018, ADT announced the pricing of its IPO of 105,000,000 shares of 

common stock at an initial public offering price of $14 per share, before underwriting discounts and 

commissions.  In addition, ADT granted to the Underwriter Defendants a 30-day option to purchase 

up to an additional 15,750,000 shares of common stock at the initial public offering price, less 

underwriting discounts and commissions.   

119. On January 19, 2018, ADT and the Underwriter Defendants conducted the IPO and 

sold 105,000,000 shares of ADT common stock to the investing public.  These shares were sold 

pursuant to a final prospectus dated January 18, 2018 (the “Prospectus”), which forms part of the 

Registration Statement (the Prospectus and Form S-1, as amended, are referred to collectively herein 

as the “Registration Statement”).  The Prospectus was filed with the SEC on January 22, 2018.  

120. The Company closed its IPO on January 23, 2018, and used the proceeds of the IPO 

to redeem approximately $594 million of indebtedness and set aside $750 million for the purpose of 

redeeming outstanding preferred securities. 
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V. DEFENDANTS’ UNTRUE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS OF 

MATERIAL FACT AND OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT IN 

VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 11 AND 12(a)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

121. Defendants failed to disclose in the Registration Statement the true nature of ADT’s 

relationship with Zonoff and the Z1 Platform it had been in the process of developing, the resultant 

litigation with Harris and Ring following the acquisition of the entire Zonoff team by Ring, the 

ongoing nature of the Zonoff Litigation over the Z1 Platform and the potential intellectual property 

rights at issue, the competitive challenges ADT was facing, and the true nature of its competitive 

landscape. 

122. As a result, the Registration Statement did not provide a full picture of the true 

circumstances at the Company, and many of the included factual statements therein were explicitly 

and materially false and misleading.  In addition to the Zonoff Litigation itself, the Registration 

Statement failed to disclose that, at the time of the IPO, as learned through the Zonoff escrow 

materials and the resulting Zonoff Litigation, Ring was in the process of bringing to market 

(essentially with ADT’s blessing through the settlement of the Zonoff Litigation) a low-priced DIY 

product that directly competed with ADT products in the professionally-monitored security industry 

– with ADT’s own Z1 Platform that it was developing with Zonoff.  ADT’s own filings in the Zonoff 

Litigation demonstrate that, prior to the IPO: (1) Ring was “using the stolen Z1 Platform to release a 

product that competes directly with ADT” in the professionally-monitored security markets; (2) 

“Ring [was] currently soliciting ADT’s customers by marketing its alarm product as a replacement 

for ADT’s Pulse system”; and (3) “Ring’s market share grab [was] not speculative.” 

123. Defendants were under a duty to disclose the full truth about the Company, its 

ongoing litigation with Harris and Ring, and the true nature of the competition it was facing, such 

that any statement or omission the Registration Statement made to the contrary would not have been 

misleading.  Defendants breached this duty by failing to fully reveal this information and, instead, 
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omitting and concealing it from investors.  This information was material because it would have 

altered the total mix of information about the Company that was available to reasonable investors. 

124. Defendants violated Item 303 of Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.303 (“Item 303”) 

based on their failure to disclose certain material information related to the ongoing litigation with 

Harris and Ring and the true nature of the competition ADT was facing.  Item 303 requires an issuer 

to “[d]escribe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably 

expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income 

from continuing operations.”  17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii) & (b). 

125. The SEC has explained, “[o]ne of the most important elements necessary to an 

understanding of a company’s performance, and the extent to which reported financial information is 

indicative of future results, is the discussion and analysis of known trends, demands, commitments, 

events and uncertainties.” SEC Guidance Regarding Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Securities Act Release No. 33-8350, 68 Fed. Reg. 

75,056, 75,061 (Dec. 29, 2003).  Thus, SEC guidance requires management to make two 

assessments where a trend or uncertainty is known: 

(1) Is the known trend . . . or uncertainty likely to come to fruition? If management 

determines that it is not reasonably likely to occur, no disclosure is required. 

(2) If management cannot make that determination, it must evaluate objectively the 

consequences of the known trend . . . or uncertainty, on the assumption that it will 

come to fruition. Disclosure is then required unless management determines that a 

material effect on the registrant’s financial condition or results of operations is not 

reasonably likely to occur. 

See Certain Investment Company Disclosures, Securities Act Release No. 33-6835, 54 Fed. Reg. 

22,427, 22,430 (May 24, 1989) (“1989 SEC Release”). 

126. The SEC has made clear for decades that, in addition to the identification of such 

“known trends or uncertainties,” Item 303 specifically requires disclosure of the expected impact 

that any such trends or uncertainties are expected to have on a company’s prospective financial 



 

- 29 - 

performance. The SEC has stated that “Item 303 require[s] disclosure of forward looking 

information,” including, at a minimum, disclosure of the “reasonably likely material effects on 

operating results.”  1989 SEC Release at 22,428-29. 

127. Here, Defendants violated Item 303 by failing to disclose a known uncertainty with 

respect to ongoing litigation with Harris and Ring, its lack of a material foothold in the DIY space, 

and the true nature of the competition it was facing.  Defendants also failed to disclose a known 

uncertainty concerning the outcome of the Zonoff Litigation and that ADT had reached a settlement 

under which Ring would be allowed to use ADT’s material technology rights and trade secrets, i.e., 

the Z1 Platform, in products that ADT knew would directly compete with ADT’s products in the 

professionally-monitored security industry. 

128. Further, Item 3 of Form S-1 also required that the Registration Statement further 

provide information called for under Item 503 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.503, 

including, among other things, a “discussion of the most significant factors that make the offering 

speculative or risky,” yet the risk disclosures in the Registration Statement failed to advise investors 

about significant, then-existing (as opposed to potential) factors that made the IPO more speculative 

or risky than the Registration Statement disclosed with respect to the Company’s ongoing legal 

proceedings and intellectual property rights. 

129. The Registration Statement also inaccurately described as potential, certain risks 

associated with investments in new technologies, including capital loss on those investments that 

may have had a material adverse effect on ADT’s financial condition and results of operations, 

rather than disclosing that ADT’s investment in Zonoff and the Z1 Platform had already been a 

failure and a loss.  The Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part: 

We have and will continue to invest in new businesses, services, and technologies 

outside the traditional security and interactive services market, which is inherently 

risky, and could disrupt our current operations.  
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We have invested and will continue to invest in new businesses, products, services, 

and technologies beyond traditional security and interactive services. Our 

investments may involve significant risks and uncertainties, including capital loss 

on some or all of our investments, insufficient revenues from such investments to 

offset any new liabilities assumed and expenses associated with these new 

investments, distraction of management from current operations, and issues not 

identified during pre-investment planning and due diligence that could cause us to 

fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such investments and incur unanticipated 

liabilities. Since these investments are inherently risky, these new businesses, 

products, services, and technologies may not be successful and as a result, may 

materially adversely affect our reputation, financial condition, and results of 

operations. 

130. In violation of these rules, the Registration Statement failed to disclose and 

misrepresented known materially adverse trends and uncertainties, failed to disclose material 

information that was necessary to make statements in the Registration Statement not misleading, and 

failed to advise investors about significant, then-existing (as opposed to potential) factors that made 

the IPO more speculative or risky than the Registration Statement disclosed.  Defendants’ false and 

misleading statements and material omissions are further detailed throughout this section. 

A. The Registration Statement Failed to Disclose the Zonoff Litigation 

and ADT’s Agreement that Allowed Ring to Directly Compete in the 

Professionally-Monitored Security Industry Using ADT’s Own 

Technology 

131. The Registration Statement did not make any mention whatsoever of the Zonoff 

Litigation or of the then-impending settlement and permanent transfer of ADT’s material technology 

rights and trade secrets, i.e., the Z1 Platform, to Ring, despite the Company having learned through 

the Zonoff Litigation that Ring was entering the professionally-monitored security industry with a 

low-cost offering as a direct competitor to ADT.  

132. To the contrary, the Registration Statement provided false and misleading risk 

warnings that gave the misimpression that any such litigation ever existed, let alone that it was on 

the verge of resolution.  For example, the Registration Statement misleadingly stated, in pertinent 

part:  
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The Company is subject to various claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of 

business, including from time to time, contractual disputes, employment matters, 

product and general liability claims, claims that the Company has infringed on the 

intellectual property rights of others, claims related to alleged security system 

failures, and consumer and employment class actions. In the ordinary course of 

business, the Company is also subject to regulatory and governmental examinations, 

information requests and subpoenas, inquiries, investigations, and threatened legal 

actions and proceedings. In connection with such formal and informal inquiries, the 

Company receives numerous requests, subpoenas, and orders for documents, 

testimony, and information in connection with various aspects of its activities. The 

Company has recorded accruals for losses that it believes are probable to occur and 

are reasonably estimable.  While the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be 

predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the resolution of any such 

proceedings (other than matters specifically identified below), will not have a 

material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash 

flows. 

133. Further, the Registration Statement failed to advise investors about significant, then-

existing factors that made the IPO more speculative or risky than the Registration Statement 

disclosed with respect to ADT’s intellectual property rights.   

134. Specifically, the Registration Statement failed to disclose and/or inaccurately 

described as potential the material adverse effect the Zonoff Litigation, its settlement, and the 

resulting entry of Ring into the professionally-monitored security industry was having (or would 

have) on the Company’s operations and financial results, as well as the negative impact on ADT’s 

reputation.  For example, the Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part: 

[W]e are currently and may in the future become subject to legal proceedings and 

commercial or contractual disputes.  These are typically claims that arise in the 

normal course of business including, without limitation, commercial or contractual 

disputes with our suppliers, intellectual property matters, third party liability, 

including product liability claims and employment claims.  There is a possibility that 

such claims may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations that is 

greater than we anticipate and/or negatively affect our reputation. 

135. The Registration Statement also inaccurately described as being potential certain risks 

associated with the infringement of ADT’s intellectual property rights, which could and may cause 

ADT’s competitive position to suffer or have a materially adverse effect on ADT’s business, 

financial, condition, and results of operations, rather than disclosing that ADT’s competitive position 
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had already suffered and that ADT was suffering a materially adverse effect from the Zonoff 

Litigation, its settlement, and the resulting entry of Ring into the professionally-monitored security 

industry with ADT’s Z1 Platform.  The Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part, as follows: 

Infringement of our intellectual property rights could negatively affect us.   

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, 

confidentiality provisions, and licensing arrangements to establish and protect our 

proprietary rights. We cannot guarantee, however, that the steps we have taken to 

protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to prevent infringement of 

our rights or misappropriation of our intellectual property or technology. . . . 

Furthermore, while we enter into confidentiality agreements with certain of our 

employees and third parties to protect our intellectual property, such 

confidentiality agreements could be breached or otherwise may not provide 

meaningful protection for our confidential information, trade secrets and know-

how related to the design, manufacture, or operation of our products and services. 

If it becomes necessary for us to resort to litigation to protect our intellectual 

property rights, any proceedings could be burdensome and costly, and we may not 

prevail. Further, adequate remedies may not be available in the event of an 

unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information, trade secrets, or 

know-how. If we fail to successfully enforce our intellectual property rights, our 

competitive position could suffer, which could materially adversely affect our 

business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. . . .  

136. The statements in Paragraphs 122, 127-129, 131-135, supra, that failed to disclose the 

Zonoff Litigation or the then impending settlement and permanent transfer of ADT’s material 

technology rights and trade secrets to Ring were inaccurate statements of material fact because they 

failed to disclose and misrepresented the following material facts that existed at the time of the IPO 

and were necessary to make the disclosed statement misleading: 

(a) ADT was engaged in the Zonoff Litigation that centered around whether Ring 

was permitted to use ADT’s material technology rights and trade secrets, i.e., the Z1 Platform, in 

product that ADT knew would directly compete with ADT’s products in the professionally-

monitored security industry;  
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(b) ADT had reached a settlement in the Zonoff Litigation through which Ring 

would in fact be permitted to use the Z1 Platform in its competing low-cost DIY product and to 

beach ADT to market with the same; 

(c) ADT had not protected its technological innovations because ADT’s material 

technology rights and trade secrets had already been disclosed to Ring through the events leading up 

to the Zonoff Litigation and ADT had reached a settlement in the Zonoff Litigation through which 

Ring would in fact be permitted to use the Z1 Platform in its competing low-cost DIY product; and 

(d) ADT had invested significantly in Zonoff and the Z1 Platform, only to lose 

that investment to its competitor, Ring. 

B. The Registration Statement Failed to Disclose that ADT Faced 

Growing Competition from Technology Companies Like Ring and 

Misrepresented Its Competition as Growth Opportunities 

137. Pursuant to Item 101 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.101, ADT was required 

to disclose: 

Competitive conditions in the business involved including, where material, the 

identity of the particular markets in which the registrant competes, an estimate of 

the number of competitors and the registrant’s competitive position, if known or 

reasonably available to the registrant. Separate consideration shall be given to the 

principal products or services or classes of products or services of the segment, if 

any. Generally, the names of competitors need not be disclosed. The registrant may 

include such names, unless in the particular case the effect of including the names 

would be misleading. Where, however, the registrant knows or has reason to know 

that one or a small number of competitors is dominant in the industry it shall be 

identified. The principal methods of competition (e.g., price, service, warranty or 

product performance) shall be identified, and positive and negative factors 

pertaining to the competitive position of the registrant, to the extent that they exist, 

shall be explained if known or reasonably available to the registrant. 

138. The Registration Statement was materially misleading because, while stating that 

ADT was “growing” its “share of the fast-growing automation industry,” the Registration Statement 

represented that the Company’s principal competitors within the security systems market such as 

“Johnson Controls International plc., Vivint, Inc., Stanley Security Solutions, a subsidiary of Stanley 
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Black and Decker, MONI, a subsidiary of Ascent Capital Group, Inc. and Comcast Corporation.”  

The Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part, as follows: 

Competition 

Technology trends are creating significant change in our industry. Innovation has 

lowered the barriers to entry in the interactive services and automation market, and 

new business models and competitors have emerged. We believe that a combination 

of increasing customer interest in lifestyle and business productivity and technology 

advancements will support the increasing penetration of the interactive services and 

automation industry. We are focused on extending our leadership position in the 

monitored security industry while also growing our share of the fast-growing 

interactive automation industry. The security systems market in the United States 

and Canada remains highly competitive and fragmented, with a number of major 

firms and thousands of smaller regional and local companies. The high fragmentation 

of the industry is primarily the result of relatively low barriers to entering the 

business in local geographies and the availability of wholesale monitoring (whereby 

smaller companies outsource their monitoring to operations that provide monitoring 

services but do not maintain the customer relationship). We believe that our 

principal competitors within the security systems market are Johnson Controls 

International plc., Vivint, Inc., Stanley Security Solutions, a subsidiary of Stanley 

Black and Decker, MONI, a subsidiary of Ascent Capital Group, Inc. and Comcast 

Corporation. 

139. In addition, the Registration Statement was materially misleading because, rather than 

disclose that market entrants like Google, Samsung, Apple, Amazon, and DIY services were 

competitors for ADT’s business, the Registration Statement falsely touted existing and potential 

partnership opportunities these companies presented rather than competition. 

140. The Registration Statement claimed that ADT’s “extremely attractive business 

model” was characterized in part by “attractive growth opportunities for new complementary 

products and services.”  The Registration Statement further explained that these growth 

opportunities were “through partnerships with leading technology firms such as Honeywell, 

Samsung, Amazon, Life 360, and Cisco Meraki” that extend ADT presence into new channels such 

as DIY: 

Attractive Growth Opportunities.  We are well-positioned to drive growth in our 

residential channel by leveraging ADT’s brand and scale and our renewed focus 

on the customer experience. We are also well-positioned to drive growth in our 
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commercial and multi-site customer channels as a result of these factors coupled with 

Protection One’s strong existing commercial and multi-site customer base and 

expertise. In addition, we have attractive growth opportunities for complementary 

products and services, including through partnerships with leading technology 

firms such as Honeywell, Samsung, Amazon, Life 360, and Cisco Meraki. These 

partnerships collectively extend our presence to new channels (including DIY, 

retail, and e-commerce) and new and complementary offerings in automation, 

cyber security, and mobile on-the-go applications. 

141. In still greater detail, but without disclosing the competitive threat ADT faced, the 

Registration Statement stated that its business strategies included partnering with third parties to 

extend and enhance ADT’s product offerings and customer base: 

We expect a growing opportunity to expand from our core business to drive growth 

in adjacent markets, capitalizing on our core expertise and monitoring and service 

capabilities—along with our brand strength and high degree of customer trust—to 

expand our addressable market. We intend to pursue additional opportunities in 

adjacent markets, including through potential selective acquisitions. 

142. The Registration Statement went further and claimed that ADT had made “substantial 

progress in the development of numerous potential growth areas for” ADT, including by “continuing 

to take advantage of our status as a ‘partner of choice’ to leading technology companies, evidenced 

by our recently announced partnership with Amazon.” 

143. The Registration Statement also inaccurately described as potential, certain risks 

associated with competition from DIY products that may in the future enter the market, including 

DIY products that may in the future offer professional monitoring, and could in the future adversely 

impact ADT’s customer base and/or pricing structure and have a material adverse effect on its 

business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.  For example, it misleadingly 

warned that challenges to ADT’s “ability to successfully offer, develop, enhance, and/or introduce 

products that keep pace with evolving technology related to our business,” “may cause us not to 

realize the full benefits of our competitive strengths or may cause us to be unable to successfully 

execute all or part of our strategy.” 

144. The Registration Statement misleadingly stated, in pertinent part, as follows: 
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We sell our products and services in highly competitive markets, including the 

home automation market, which may result in pressure on our profit margins and 

limit our ability to maintain or increase the market share of our products and 

services. . . .  

We also face potential competition from DIY products, which enable customers to 

self-monitor and control their environments without third-party involvement 

through the Internet, text messages, emails, or similar communications, but with 

the disadvantage that alarm events may go unnoticed. Some DIY providers may 

also offer professional monitoring with the purchase of their systems and 

equipment without a contractual commitment, which may be attractive to some 

customers and put us at a competitive disadvantage. Other DIY providers may offer 

new IoT devices and services with automated features and capabilities that may be 

appealing to customers. Shifts in customer preferences towards DIY systems could 

increase our attrition rates over time and the risk of accelerated amortization of 

customer contracts resulting from a declining customer base. It is possible that one 

or more of our competitors could develop a significant technological advantage 

over us that allows them to provide additional service or better quality service or to 

lower their price, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Continued 

pricing pressure, improvements in technology, and shifts in customer preferences 

towards self-monitoring or DIY could adversely impact our customer base and/or 

pricing structure and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 

condition, results of operations, and cash flows. 

145. Likewise, the Registration Statement also inaccurately described as potential, risks 

associated with competing technology entering the market that could in the future materially and 

adversely affect ADT’s growth.  The Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part, that: 

Our future growth is dependent upon our ability to keep pace with rapid 

technological and industry changes in order to develop or acquire new 

technologies for our products and service introductions that achieve market 

acceptance with acceptable margins.  

Our business operates in markets that are characterized by rapidly changing 

technologies, evolving industry standards, potential new entrants, and changes in 

customer needs and expectations. For example, a number of cable and other 

telecommunications companies and large technology companies with home 

automation solutions offer interactive security services that are competitive with our 

products and services. If these services gain greater market acceptance and 

traction, our ability to grow our business, in particular our ADT Pulse and other 

interactive service offerings, could be materially and adversely affected. 

Accordingly, our future success depends in part on our ability to accomplish the 

following: identify emerging technological trends in our target end-markets; develop, 

acquire, and maintain competitive products and services that capitalize on existing 

and emerging trends; enhance our existing products and services by adding 

innovative features on a timely and cost-effective basis that differentiates us from 
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our competitors; sufficiently capture intellectual property rights in new inventions 

and other innovations; and develop or acquire and bring products and services, 

including enhancements, to market quickly and cost-effectively. . . .  In addition, 

our competitors may introduce superior products or business strategies, impairing 

our brand and the desirability of our products and services, which may cause 

customers to defer or forego purchases of our products and services, and 

impacting our ability to charge monthly service fees. If our competitors implement 

new technologies before we are able to implement them, those competitors may be 

able to provide more effective products than ours, possibly at lower prices. Any 

delay or failure in the introduction of new or enhanced solutions could harm our 

business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the markets for 

our products and services may not develop or grow as we anticipate. 

146. The Registration Statement also inaccurately described as potential, certain risks 

associated with increased competition that could in the future cause ADT to face increased pricing 

pressure and a reduced market share and could in the future have a material adverse effect on its 

business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.  The Registration Statement 

stated, in pertinent part, that: 

We may not be able to continue to develop and execute a competitive yet profitable 

pricing structure.   

We face competition from cable and telecommunications companies that are actively 

targeting the home automation and monitored security market, as well as from large 

technology companies that are expanding into the connected home market either 

through the development of their own solutions or the acquisition of other companies 

with home automation solution offerings. This increased competition could result in 

pricing pressure, a shift in customer preferences towards the services of these 

companies, reduce our market share and make it more difficult for us to compete 

on brand-name recognition and reputation. Continued pricing pressure from these 

competitors or failure to achieve pricing based on the competitive advantages 

previously identified above could prevent us from maintaining competitive price 

points for our products and services resulting in lost customers or in our inability 

to attract new customers and have a material adverse effect on our business, 

financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.  

147. The statements referenced above in Paragraph 138-146, which failed to disclose, 

among other things, the competitive pressures ADT was facing in the emerging DIY market, were 

each inaccurate statements of material fact because while noting only the potential negative impact 

on its business.  The Registration Statement failed to disclose and misrepresented the following 
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significant, material adverse facts then-existing at the time of the IPO and the Registration Statement 

also failed to disclose and misrepresented the following material facts that existed at the time of the 

IPO and which were necessary to make the disclosed statements not misleading: 

(a) At the time of the IPO, and as Defendant Whall admitted later, during ADT’s 

fourth quarter earnings conference call, competition from companies like Comcast, who were ADT’s 

competitors years ago, was being displaced by competition from technology companies like Google 

Nest, Amazon, and Apple, which were “coming out more on the hardware side and kind of getting 

things started with more of a DIY offering.” 

(b) At the time of the IPO, as revealed in the Zonoff Litigation filings, ADT knew 

that Ring was entering the professionally-monitored security markets with its low-cost DIY device; 

that Ring was “using the stolen Z1 Platform to release a product that competes directly with ADT”; 

that “Ring [was] currently soliciting ADT’s customers by marketing its alarm product as a 

replacement for ADT’s Pulse system”; and that “Ring’s market share grab [was] not speculative.”   

(c) As such, ADT knew at the time of the IPO that its effort to bring to market a 

low-cost, professionally-monitored DIY product had been undermined by Ring’s entry into the 

market with its own low cost DIY device. 

(d) At the time of the IPO, ADT had learned that Ring’s DIY professionally-

monitored security product would cost significantly less than ADT’s offerings. 

(e) ADT was not “a partner of choice to leading technology companies, 

evidenced by our recently announced partnership with Amazon,” since Amazon was at the time of 

the IPO in the process of acquiring Ring to compete directly with ADT in the professionally-

monitored security market. 

(f) ADT did not have “attractive growth opportunities for complementary 

products and services, including through partnerships with leading technology firms such as . . . 
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Samsung,” nor was that partnership expanding ADT’s “presence to new channels (including DIY, 

retail, and e-commerce) and new and complementary offerings in automation, cyber security, and 

mobile on-the-go applications” because, as Defendant Whall would later admit, that partnership was 

for “less-sophisticated systems in the DIY market.” 

(g) As the Executive Defendants told investors at the IPO roadshow, ADT 

monitored the impact this increased competition was having on the Company through a suite of 

computer programs and daily reports, including the Daily Scorecard, that provided the Executive 

Defendants with visibility into every aspect of the business in real time. 

C. The Executive Defendants Misrepresented ADT’s Competition at the 

Roadshow 

148. During the IPO roadshow, the Executive Defendants presented a slide depicting the 

residential market share landscape of which ADT claims 30% - the “clear leader” in the residential 

security market.  The slide, however, misleadingly attributed ADT’s ability to maintain such a high 

percentage of the market share to “[h]igh barriers to entry,” i.e., “significant costs to maintain a 

nationwide footprint,” and “limited new participants” in the market, noting that new participants 

were mainly cable and telecommunications companies.  

149. Those statements were each inaccurate statements of material fact because they failed 

to disclose that ADT was facing mounting competitive pressure from DIY products and that its 

attempt to gain a meaningful entry into that market – through the Z1 Platform it had been developing 

with Zonoff – had not only failed to come to fruition, but, as would later be revealed, Ring had 

acquired the entire Zonoff team, including the Z1 Platform, and would be coming to market with its 

own professionally monitored DIY product with intellectual property that ADT neither protected nor 

disclosed it had agreed to share for a one-time cash payment. 
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VI. THE TRUTH EMERGES AFTER THE IPO 

A. Information Emerged Regarding ADT’s Cash Settlement with Ring 

150. Just as the IPO was launched, details emerged about the Zonoff Litigation which 

revealed that ADT had effectively agreed to give Ring its proprietary Z1 Platform and welcome a 

fierce competitor to its market for a mere $25 million dollars.  While it had previously been reported 

that Ring wanted to bring to the market a low-cost DIY professionally-monitored alarm that would 

cost only $199 and then $10 a month for monitoring, articles then reported that ADT would be 

receiving $25 million from Ring and in return Ring would be able to launch its market disrupting 

product which used the Z1 Platform.  That Ring was to receive this competitive windfall was 

unconfirmed until a stipulation was filed in the Zonoff Litigation on February 23, 2018 that vacated 

the preliminary injunction, which had effectively prevented Ring from selling this product. 

151. This news had a disastrous effect on the market price of ADT common stock 

following the IPO. 

152. Addressing the poor performance of ADT common stock following the IPO, Allison 

Prang for Dow Jones Institutional News reported that “[p]otential investors had said they were 

concerned about the company’s ability to retain customers and attract new ones amid competition 

from new entrants including the video-doorbell company Ring.” 

153. ADT common stock, which had been offered at $14.00 per share in the IPO, closed 

its first day of trading at $12.39. 

B. Amazon Acquired Ring and Launched a Competing Home Security 

Product Using the Technology and Trade Secrets Developed by ADT 

and Zonoff 

154. On February 27, 2018, Amazon announced that it had agreed to buy Ring, with news 

reports suggesting a purchase price of $1 billion.  This announcement came just days after the 
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settlement of the Zonoff Litigation which vacated the preliminary injunction and allowed Ring to 

enter the professionally-monitored security market with ADT’s Z1 Platform. 

155. Analysts were quick to note the potential disruption this could have on ADT.  In 

particular, analysts at Morgan Stanley wrote in a February 28, 2018, report that ADT could face 

greater risk from Ring if Amazon added professional monitoring to Ring’s home automation 

offering, and that “if Amazon wanted to aggressively compete with ADT” it could pull integration 

capabilities between ADT Pulse and Amazon’s Alexa, “harming ADT in the process.” 

156. On February 27, 2018, Reuters reported that Wedbush Securities analyst Michael 

Pachter stated that ADT could be the “biggest loser” from this deal because “camera technology is 

far superior to physical security . . . .  With Amazon having 100 million Prime members, that’s a big 

addressable market for them to start selling this into.” 

157. On this news, the price of ADT common stock fell from an opening price of $12.14 

on February 27, 2018, to a closing price of $10.56 on February 28, 2018. 

C. ADT Released Disappointing Fourth Quarter and Fiscal Year 2017 

Financial Results 

158. Leading up to ADT’s first quarterly earnings report as a public company, analysts at 

Barclays reported on March 8, 2018, that they were particularly looking forward to improved 

transparency from the company, since “[a] common complaint during the IPO was not enough 

disclosure.”  

159. Before the market opened on March 15, 2018, just over two months since the IPO, 

ADT issued a press release in which it announced its disappointed fourth quarter and full year 2017 

earnings and other financial results.  Although the ADT optically received a one-time boost from the 

2017 Tax Reform, ADT was operating at a loss. 

160. In particular, while the Company reported fourth quarter net income of $638 million 

and diluted earnings per share of $0.99, those net income results included a $690 million tax benefit 
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due to the 2017 Tax Reform.  Excluding special items, such as the tax benefit, ADT was forced to 

disclose diluted earnings per share of $(0.06) – a loss. 

161. Likewise, while the Company reported full year net income of $343 million and 

diluted earnings per share of $0.53, it was forced to disclose that but for special items, such as the 

2017 Tax Reform tax benefit, diluted earnings per share for the year was $(0.35) – a loss. 

162. On March 15, 2018, before the market opened, ADT hosted an earnings conference 

call.  Analysts took the opportunity to ask about the potential impact Amazon’s acquisition of Ring 

might have on the Company and whether ADT saw a “threat from new tech offerings.”  While 

Defendant Whall attempted to spin additional DIY offerings as “positive” he was forced to admit 

that while years earlier competition was coming from cable and telecommunications companies like 

“AT&T, Verizon, Time Warner, [and] Comcast,” there had been a “change in the competitive 

landscape.”  Further, with respect to the threat from new tech offerings, Defendant Whall had to 

acknowledge Google Nest, Amazon, and Apple as “coming out more on the hardware side and kind 

of getting things started with more of a DIY offering.” 

163. During that call, Defendant Whall also revealed that ADT’s partnership with 

Samsung, much touted in the Registration Statement, was for “less-sophisticated systems in the DIY 

market.” 

164. Despite the attempted spin, the market recognized the continued competitive 

pressures ADT was facing in the emerging DIY market: 

 “ADT stock has certainly disappointed out of its IPO and today’s print added 

to the pain (-10% vs SPX flat), belying the healthy ‘self-help’ improvement 

being made by ADT.  Whether it’s the quick LBO-to-IPO turnaround, the 

bad taste from prior ADT under an old management, or emerging 

competitive threats (Amazon/Ring), ADT has clearly struggled to find 

incremental buys over the last 1.5 months.”  Barclays, “noisy stock, steady 

execution; OW” 

 “[I]nvestors’ skittishness tied to the AMZN threat does not appear to be 

going away any time soon…”  Barclays, “What needs to be done?” 
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165. On this news, the price of ADT stock plummeted, falling from an opening price of 

$10.75 per share on March 15, 2018, to close at $8.73 per share on March 16, 2018 on extremely 

high trading volume. 

166. As of the commencement of this action, ADT common stock traded at $8.97 per share 

– 35.9% less than the $14 per share IPO price. 

VII. LEAD PLAINTIFFS’ CLASS REPRESENTATION ALLEGATIONS 

167. Lead Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of a Class consisting of all 

persons or entities that purchased or otherwise acquired ADT’s publicly traded common stock 

pursuant or traceable to the Registration Statement, and who were damaged thereby.  Excluded from 

the Class:  the Defendants and the Individual Defendants’ immediate family members; the officers, 

directors, affiliates, and subsidiaries of ADT, the Apollo Fund Defendants, and the Underwriter 

Defendants, at all relevant times, including ADT’s employee retirement and/or benefit plan(s) and 

their participants or beneficiaries, to the extent they made purchases through such plan(s); any entity 

in which Defendants have or had a controlling interest (but in the case of the Underwriter 

Defendants, only such entities that they have a majority ownership interest in); and the legal 

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns of any such excluded person or entity. 

168. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Lead Plaintiffs at this time 

and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Lead Plaintiffs believe that there are 

thousands of members of the proposed Class as the Company offered over 100 million shares of 

common stock in the IPO.  Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from 

records maintained by ADT or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action 

by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions. 
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169. Lead Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal 

law that is complained of herein. 

170. Lead Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

171. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether Defendants violated the Securities Act; 

(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public in the 

Registration Statement misrepresented and/or omitted material facts about the business and 

operations of ADT;  

(c) whether the Registration Statement failed to disclose known trends or 

uncertainties that have had or that the Defendant reasonably expected would have materially 

favorable or unfavorable impact on the sales or revenues or income from continuing operations; and 

(d) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 

172. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as the 

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden of 

individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the wrongs 

done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action. 
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FIRST CLAIM 

FOR VIOLATIONS OF §11 OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Against ADT, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants) 

173. Lead Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above, as if 

fully set forth herein. 

174. This cause of action is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§77k, on behalf of the Class, against ADT, each of the Individual Defendants, and each of the 

Underwriter Defendants.  Lead Plaintiffs do not claim that any of the Defendants committed 

intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent 

intent.  This claim is based solely on strict liability. 

175. The Registration Statement for the IPO was inaccurate and misleading, contained 

untrue statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements 

made therein not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. 

176. ADT is the registrant for the IPO.  As such, ADT is strictly liable for the materially 

untrue statements contained in the Registration Statement and the failure of the Registration 

Statement to be complete and accurate.  By virtue of the Registration Statement containing material 

misrepresentations and omissions of material fact necessary to make the statements therein not 

materially false and misleading, ADT is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Lead 

Plaintiffs and the Class. 

177. The Individual Defendants each signed the Registration Statement either personally 

or through an attorney-in-fact and/or caused its issuance.  As such, each Individual Defendant is 

liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Lead Plaintiffs and the Class for the materially 

inaccurate statements contained in the Registration Statement and the failure of the Registration 

Statement to be complete and accurate. 
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178. The Underwriter Defendants each served as an underwriter in connection with the 

IPO.  As such, each Underwriter Defendant is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Lead 

Plaintiffs and the Class for the materially inaccurate statements contained in the Registration 

Statement and the failure of the Registration Statement to be complete and accurate. 

179. None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration 

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement.  Rather, each such statement concerned 

existing facts.  Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of the untrue 

statements as forward-looking statements and did not disclose information that undermined the 

putative validity of those statements.  Defendants had a duty to disclose to investors all material facts 

about the Company, its ongoing litigation with Zonoff, and the true nature of the competition it was 

facing, such that any statement or omission the Registration Statement made to the contrary would 

not have been misleading. 

180. Lead Plaintiffs acquired the Company’s common stock pursuant and/or traceable to 

the Registration Statement, and without knowledge of the untruths and/or omissions alleged herein.  

Lead Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages, and the price of the Company’s common 

stock declined substantially due to material misstatements in the Registration Statement. 

181. This claim was brought within one year after the discovery of the untrue statements 

and omissions and within three years of the date of the IPO. 

182. By virtue of the foregoing, Lead Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class are 

entitled to damages under Section 11 of the Securities Act as measured by the provisions of Section 

11(e) of the Securities Act, from the Defendants named in this Claim and each of them, jointly and 

severally. 
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SECOND CLAIM 

VIOLATIONS OF §12(a)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Against All Defendants Except the Apollo Fund Defendants) 

183. Lead Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above, as if 

fully set forth herein. 

184. This cause of action is brought pursuant to Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. §77o(a)(2), on behalf of Goldstrand, Messrs. Katz, Sweet, and Lowinger (“Section 12 

Plaintiffs”) and the Class against ADT, each of the Individual Defendants, Defendant DeVries, and 

each of the Underwriter Defendants.  The Section 12 Plaintiffs do not claim that any of the 

Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted with 

scienter or fraudulent intent.  This claim is based solely on strict liability. 

185. The Defendants named in this Claim were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of 

purchasers of the common stock offered pursuant to the Prospectus and the Executive Defendants 

were also sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of purchasers of the common stock pursuant to the 

roadshow. 

186. The Prospectus and roadshow contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted to 

state other facts necessary to make statements made not misleading, and omitted to state material 

facts required to be stated therein.  The actions of solicitation by the Defendants named in this Claim 

included participating in the preparation of the false and misleading Prospectus and roadshow 

presentation and participating in marketing ADT common stock to investors, such as the Section 12 

Plaintiffs and other members of the Class. 

187. The Defendants named in this Claim owed to the purchasers of ADT common stock, 

including the Section 12 Plaintiffs and other members of the Class, the duty to make a reasonable 

and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the Prospectus roadshow to ensure that such 

statements were true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be stated in 
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order to make the statements contained therein not misleading.  These Defendants had a duty to 

disclose to investors all material facts about the Company, its ongoing litigation with Zonoff, and the 

true nature of the competition it was facing, such that any statement or omission the Registration 

Statement made to the contrary would not have been misleading. 

188. The Section 12 Plaintiffs and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise 

acquired ADT common stock pursuant to the defective Prospectus and roadshow.  The Section 12 

Plaintiffs did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could they have known, of the 

untruths and omissions contained in the Prospectus and roadshow. 

189. This cause of action was brought within one year after discovery of the untrue 

statements and omissions in the Prospectus and within three years after the Company’s shares were 

sold to the Class in connection with the IPO. 

190. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, the Defendants named in this Claim violated, 

and/or controlled a person who violated, Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  Accordingly, the 

Section 12 Plaintiffs and members of Class have the right to recover consideration paid with interest 

thereon or damages as allowed by law or in equity. 

THIRD CLAIM 

FOR VIOLATION OF §15(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Against the Individual Defendants, Defendant DeVries, and the Apollo Fund Defendants) 

191. Lead Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege each and every allegation contained above, as 

if fully set forth herein. 

192. This cause of action is brought pursuant to Section 15(a) of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. §77o, on behalf of the Class, against each of the Individual Defendants, Defendant DeVries, 

and each of the Apollo Fund Defendants. 
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193. Each of the Apollo Fund Defendants, by virtue of their stock ownership, their Board 

designees constituting a majority of the Board, and their own admission in the Registration 

Statement, controlled ADT and each of the Individual Defendants at the time of the IPO. 

194. Each of the Apollo Fund Defendants participated in the preparation and dissemination 

of the Registration Statement, and otherwise participated in the process necessary to conduct the 

IPO.  Because of their position of control and authority as controlling stockholders each of the 

Apollo Fund Defendants were able to, and did, control the contents of the Registration Statement, 

which contained materially untrue information and/or omitted material information required to be 

disclosed to prevent the statements made therein from being misleading. 

195. The Individual Defendants and Defendant DeVries were each a control person of 

ADT by virtue of their positions as directors and/or senior offers of ADT.  These Defendants each 

had a series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors 

and/or officers and/or major stockholders of ADT, including the Apollo Fund Defendants. 

196. The Individual Defendants and Defendant DeVries each participated in the process 

necessary to conduct the IPO.  Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers 

and/or directors each of these Defendants were able to, and did, control the contents of the 

Registration Statement, which contained materially untrue information and/or omitted material 

information required to be disclosed to prevent the statements made therein from being misleading.   

197. As control persons of ADT, each of the Defendants named in the Claim is liable 

jointly and severally with and to the same extent as ADT for its violations of Sections 11 and 

12(a)(2) of the Securities Act. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Lead Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment, as follows: 
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A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, certifying Lead Plaintiffs as class 

representatives under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.220, and Lead Plaintiffs’ counsel as class 

counsel; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Lead Plaintiffs and the other Class 

members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including pre-judgment and post 

judgment interest thereon; 

C. Awarding Lead Plaintiffs and other members of the Class their reasonable costs and 

expenses incurred in the action, including counsel fees and expert fees; 

D. Awarding consideration paid with interest thereon or damages as allowed by law or in 

equity on the Second Claim; and 

E. Awarding Lead Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class such other and further 

relief, including equitable/injunctive relief, as the Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Lead Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury. 

DATED:  August 24, 2018 ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 

 & DOWD LLP  

JACK REISE (FL Bar No. 058149) 

 

s/ Jack Reise 

 JACK REISE 
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STEPHEN R. ASTLEY (FL Bar No. 0139254) 

ELIZABETH A. SHONSON (FL Bar No. 22282) 

SABRINA E. TIRABASSI (FL Bar No. 25521) 

ANDREW T. REES (FL Bar No. 0062247) 

CONSTANTINE P. ECONOMIDES  

(FL Bar No. 118177) 

120 East Palmetto Park Road, Suite 500 

Boca Raton, FL  33432 

Telephone:  561/750-3000 

516/750-3364 (fax) 

jreise@rgrdlaw.com 

sastley@rgrdlaw.com 

eshonson@rgrdlaw.com 

stirabassi@rgrdlaw.com 

arees@rgrdlaw.com 

ceconomides@rgrdlaw.com 

 
Lead Counsel and Chair of Executive Committee 

 

 
LABATON SUCHAROW LLP 

JONATHAN GARDNER 

ALFRED L. FATALE III 

140 Broadway  

New York, NY  10005 

Telephone:  212/907-0700 

212/818-2796 (fax) 

jgardner@labaton.com 

afatale@labaton.com 

 
SCOTT+SCOTT ATTORNEYS AT LAW LLP 

AMANDA LAWRENCE 

156 South Main Street 

P.O. Box 192 

Colchester, CT  06415 

Telephone:  860/537-5537 

860/537-4432 (fax) 

alawrence@scott-scott.com 

 
SCOTT+SCOTT ATTORNEYS AT LAW LLP 

JOHN T. JASNOCH 

600 West Broadway, Suite 3300 

San Diego, CA  92101 

Telephone:  619/233-4565 

619/233-0508 (fax) 

jjasnoch@scott-scott.com 
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LEVI & KORSINSKY, LLP 

EDUARD KORSINSKY 

55 Broadway, 10th Floor 

New York, NY  10006 

Telephone:  212/363-7500 

212/363-7171 (fax) 

ek@zlk.com 

 
STULL, STULL & BRODY 

AARON L. BRODY 

MICHAEL J. KLEIN 

6 East 45th Street, Fifth Floor 

New York, NY  10017 

Telephone:  212/687-7230 

212/490-2022 (fax) 

abrody@ssbny.com 

mklein@ssbny.com 

 
Members of Executive Committee 

 

 
ABRAHAM, FRUCHTER & TWERSKY, LLP 

JACK G. FRUCHTER 

One Pennsylvania Plaza, Suite 2805 

New York, NY  10119 

Telephone:  212/279-5050 

212/279-3655 (fax) 

jfruchter@aftlaw.com 

 
CRIDEN & LOVE, P.A. 

MICHAEL E. CRIDEN 

KEVIN B. LOVE 

LINDSEY C. GROSSMAN 

7301 SW 57th Court, Suite 515 

South Miami, FL  33143 

Telephone:  305/357-9000 

305/357-9050 (fax) 

mcriden@cridenlove.com 

klove@cridenlove.com 

lgrossman@cridenlove.com 

 
ATTERBURY, GOLDBERGER & WEISS, P.A. 

JACK GOLDBERGER 

250 Australian Avenue South, Suite 1400 

West Palm Beach, FL  33401 

Telephone:  561/659-8300 

jgoldberger@agwpa.com 
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EGGNATZ | PASCUCCI 

JOSHUA H. EGGNATZ 

MICHAEL J. PASCUCCI 

5400 South University Drive, Suite 417 

Davie, FL  33328 

Telephone:  954/889-3359 

jeggnatz@justiceearned.com 

mpascucci@justiceearned.com 

 
Additional Counsel  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on August 24, 2018, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was 

served upon all counsel of record via the Florida e-filing portal. 

 

s/ Jack Reise 

 JACK REISE (FL Bar No. 058149) 

 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 

JOSEPH C. COATES, III 

777 South Flagler Drive, Suite 300 East 

West Palm Beach, FL  33401 

Telephone:  561/650-7900 

coatesj@gtlaw.com 

James D. DeVries 

40 Lancaster Lane 

Lincolnshire, IL  60069 

Apollo Global Management, LLC 

Corporation Service Company 

80 State Street 

Albany, NY  12207-2543 

Apollo Management GP, LLC 

Corporation Service Company 

80 State Street 

Albany, NY  12207-2543 

Apollo Management Holdings GP, LLC 

Corporation Service Company 

80 State Street 

Albany, NY  12207-2543 

Apollo Management Holdings, L.P. 

Corporation Service Company 

80 State Street 

Albany, NY  12207-2543 

Apollo Management, L.P. 

1301 Avenue of the Americas 

38th Floor 

New York, NY  10019 

Prime Security Services Topco Parent, L.P. 

Corporation Service Company 

251 Little Falls Drive 

Wilmington, DE  19808 

PAUL, WEISS, RIFKIND, WHARTON  

 & GARRISON LLP 

ROBERT N. KRAVITZ 

1285 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, NY  10019-6064 

Telephone:  212/373-2962 

212/492-0894 (fax) 

rkravitz@paulweiss.com 

WILLKIE FARR & GALLAGHER LLP 

TODD G. COSENZA 

787 Seventh Avenue 

New York, NY  10019-6099 

Telephone:  212/728-8000 

212/728-8111 (fax) 

tcosenza@willkie.com 

NELSON MULLINS BROAD AND CASSEL 

STEVEN ELLISON 

1 North Clematis Street, Suite 500 

West Palm Beach, FL  33401 

Telephone:  561/832-3300 

steven.ellison@nelsonmullins.com 

Counsel for Defendants 

Defendants 

 


